IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00629-COA

JOHNNIE R. YOUNG, JR.,

Appellant,

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Appellee.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Johnnie R. Young, Jr., Defendant/Appellant,
- 2. Victor I. Fleitas, Attorney for Johnnie R. Young, Jr.,
- 3. State of Mississippi, Plaintiff/Appellee
- 4. Kelly Luther, Esq., Assistant District Attorney,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the circuit court committed reversible error in admitting into evidence numerous out of court statements of C.Y. and the videotape recording of the forensic interview of C.Y.
- 2. Whether the circuit court committed reversible error in admitting into evidence prior bad acts of Johnnie R. Young, Jr.
- 3. Whether the circuit court committed reversible error in admitting into evidence the "expert" testimony and opinions of Angie Floyd.
- 4. Whether the circuit court committed reversible error in admitting into evidence the "expert" medical testimony of nurse Elizabeth Thomas.
- 5. Whether the circuit court committed reversible error in excluding the expert opinion of Dr. Gary Mooers.
- 6. Whether the circuit court committed reversible error in not granting a limiting instruction or granting a mistrial for the prosecution's improper closing argument.
- 7. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Young's Motion for a New Trial based on the sufficiency of the evidence.
 - 8. Whether the cumulative errors committed by the trial court mandate reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

Johnnie R. Young, Jr. was indicted on three counts of sexual battery on (R. at 4-5.) Trial commenced on September 21, 2009 and on September 28, 2009, the jury found Mr. Young guilty on all counts. (<u>Id.</u> at 84-86.) Judgment was entered on October 30, 2010. (<u>Id.</u> at 99-100.)

On October 14, 2010, a sentencing hearing was held and Mr. Young was sentenced to three terms of life imprisonment to run concurrently. (<u>Id.</u>) After his sentencing, Mr. Young filed a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for a New Trial. (<u>Id.</u> at 102-07.) The trial court denied these motions on February 18, 2010. (R. at 111.)

On February 18, 2010, the trial court granted Mr. Young's Motion for Leave to Proceed in Forma Pauperis. (<u>Id.</u> at 112.) Mr. Young timely filed his Notice of Appeal on March 1, 2010. (<u>Id.</u> at 113-14.)

(ii) Statement of Facts

(Prosecution's Witnesses)

1. Anthony Anderson

Anthony Anderson works as an investigator for Union County. (Tr. at 296.) He initiated his investigation in response to a report he received of child sexual abuse by

the Mississippi Department of Human Services ("DHS") regarding C.Y.. He and the DHS social worker set up a forensic interview for C.Y. with an organization "assigned by the State of Mississippi. The forensic interview was conducted by Angie Floyd. (Id. at 300.) Mr. Anderson acknowledged that the groups conducting the forensic interview and the physical examination worked closely with Union County law enforcement. (Id. at 312.) Mr. Anderson further acknowledged that he considered himself an "advocate" for children. (Id. at 319.)

2. Angie Floyd

Ms. Floyd was employed at the Family Resource Center and Children's Advocacy Center in Tupelo, MS. (Tr. at 222.) Ms. Floyd had previously worked at the Children's Advocacy Center in Mantachie, MS and for DHS in Itawamba County. (Id.) Ms. Floyd works as a forensic interview specialist and has conducted over 1,000 interviews of children. (Id. at 223.) Ms. Floyd holds a Bachelor's Degree and is taking course work for a Master's Degree in social work. (Id.) Ms. Floyd is a licensed social worker with over 260 hours in training to do forensic interviews. (Id.)

Ms. Floyd acknowledged that she worked as part of a team that had a prosecution orientation with members of law enforcement and DHS. (Tr. at 229.) Her methodology is a tool of the prosecutors and law enforcement with respect to offenses involving sexual abuse. (<u>Id.</u> at 230-31.) The cases referred to Ms. Floyd usually came

from DHS or law enforcement. (<u>Id.</u> at 232.) Funding for her salary comes from grants including grants from DHS and the Department of Public Safety. (<u>Id.</u>)

Ms. Floyd viewed her role at trial as that of an advocate for children. (<u>Id.</u> at 233.)

Her opinion was that C.Y. disclosed abuse to her and that the disclosure was consistent with a child who had been abused. (Tr. at 233-34.)

According to Ms. Floyd, C.Y. disclosed to her that she had been abused "many times" by her father. (<u>Id.</u> at 353.) C.Y. recounted that the last time anything happened she was in the truck. (<u>Id.</u> at 358) C.Y. also testified that her father would never abuse her in front of others and that and that her father told her it was "their little secret." (<u>Id.</u>) C.Y. told Ms. Floyd that the abuse always happened at her mother's house anywhere "he could lay her down.". (<u>Id.</u> at 364-65.) C.Y. testified that the abuse happened when she was between the ages of three and six years old.¹ (Tr. at 366.)

C.Y. is Johnnie R. Young, Jr.'s daughter. Her entire direct testimony consisted solely of acknowledging that she had been interviewed and that everything she had

C.Y.

3.

¹Accepting this testimony as true, the alleged sexual abuse would have ended over a year before the time specified in the indictment for when the abuse was alleged to have taken place. In fact, the prosecution never produced any evidence that the alleged sexual abuse actually took place during the one-year time period encompassed by the three-count indictment. Nonetheless, the prosecution never sought to amend the indictment to match it's own evidence of when the sexual assault's allegedly took place..

said on the forensic interview which was shown to the jury was the truth. (Tr. at 415-16.) C.Y. had no recollection that she had suffered a serious injury to her backside and vaginal area when she was approximately two and a half years old. (Id. at 419-421.) C.Y. never told her siblings about the alleged abuse. (Id. at 426.) C.Y. then testified the abuse happened for the last time when she was eight and a half years old the day before she reported it to her grandmother.² (Id.) She claimed that the abuse happened one time while her father drove the big truck home from work. (Id. at 431-32.)

4. Richard Dunsford

Richard Dunsford is the fiancee of C.Y.'s aunt, Ashley. (Tr. at 445.) Over objection, Mr. Dunsford testified that, in approximately June 2007, C.Y. and he were on the porch when she told him that her father had. Made her perform sexual acts in the big truck. (Id. at 446.) According to Mr. Dunsford, C.Y. went on to say that he observed her father beat her mother with a gun. (Id. at 447.) Mr. Dunsford directed C.Y. to go inside and tell her grandmother what she had told him. (Id. at 447-48.) Mr. Dunsford testified that C.Y. tended towards being jealous with a temper but that from his observations and interactions with her, she was a happy well-adjusted child. (Id. 450.) Mr. Dunsford testified that C.Y. told him these things because they were friends. (Tr. at

²This would seem to be contradicted by Nurse Thomas' findings of no recent injury to C.Y. during her physical examination and the fact that C.Y. had not seen her father for two weeks before she reported it to her grandmother. (State's Exh. 5.)

5. Johnnie Young, Sr.

Johnnie Young, Sr. Is the father of Johnnie R. Young, Jr. (Tr. at 470.) Over objection, Mr. Young testified that C.Y. had told him about sexual abuse two times. The first time she told him about any abuse was in 2003 or 2004.³ (<u>Id.</u> at 455.) According to Mr. Young, C.Y. first told him that her daddy put his tongue on her bottom. (<u>Id.</u> at 456.) The second time, Mr. Young testified that he came home from work one evening and C.Y. told him and his wife that her daddy made her put her mouth on him and that he touched her bottom and put his bottom on hers. (<u>Id.</u> at 458.)

At the time of the trial, C.Y. had lived solely with her grandparents for a little over two years. (<u>Id.</u> at 474.) Prior to that time, C.Y. stayed with her grandparents whenever her mother worked from the time she was born. (Tr. at 475, 481.) When C.Y. was around three years old she hurt her female part falling on the handle of the faucet in the kitchen sink. (<u>Id.</u> at 493, 498.)

Mr. Young testified that after making the last disclosure, C.Y.'s behavior became very bad and she had to be sent to St. Francis Hospital for a period of time. (<u>Id.</u> at 488.)

6. Elizabeth Thomas

Elizabeth Thomas is a sexual assault nurse examiner ("SANE") employed with

³Mr. Young later clarified that the disclosure must have taken place in early 2004. (Tr. at 477.) C.Y. would have been over five years old at that time.

the Memphis Sexual Assault Resource Center in Memphis, TN. (Tr. at 530-31.) Nurse Thomas has been a registered nurse for 32 years and has worked at the MSARC for over 16 years. (Id. at 531.) Nurse Thomas received specialized training to work as a SANE. (Id.) Nurse Thomas testified that the proper role of a nurse in her setting is to do initial intake, take a narrative from the patient and collect evidence. (Id. at 535.) Nurse Thomas acknowledged that a nurse could not render a medical diagnosis or determine issues of medical causation. (Id. at 536.) Nurse Thomas also admitted that the examination of the female genitalia in a maturing child is particularly complex requiring additional training even above a medical license. (Tr. at 541-42.)

Nurse Thomas in assessing C.Y.'s case, was never informed about her severe injury and that such an injury would be important information she would need to know. (Id. at 542-43.) According to Nurse Thomas, C.Y. disclosed to her that she had been "touched" many times by her father. (Id. at 557.) During the physical examination, Nurse Thomas observed no acute injury on C.Y. (Id. at 587.) She made findings of no hymen at six o'clock, attenuation at eight to eleven o'clock and the size of the hymenal lumens was 10-15 mm. (Id. at 591-94.)

Nurse Thomas admitted that C.Y. was developmentally normal and that he attenuation and lumens size were not indicative of sexual abuse. (Tr. at 635-41.) In addition, Nurse Thomas testified that she would have wanted to know about C.Y.'s

problems with chronic constipation and was not told of any prior injuries or problems.

(<u>Id.</u> at 643-647.) Nurse Thomas referred to C.Y.'s earlier vaginal injury as significant.

(<u>Id.</u> at 648.)

7. Amy Berryhill

Amy Berryhill is the daughter of Johnnie Young, Sr. and Deborah Young, C.Y.'s aunt and the half-sister of Johnnie R. Young, Jr. (Tr. at 668.) Over objection, she testified that when she was about five years old her brother, Johnnie R. Young, Jr., had her straddle him and rubbed his penis on her "vagina" before her mother walked by and saw him. (Id. at 669.) She further testified that she had always felt uncomfortable around Johnnie R. Young, Jr. but had no recollection of any other incidents. (Id. at 669.) (Defendant's Witnesses)

1. Elizabeth Young

Elizabeth Young is the fifteen year old daughter of Johnnie R. Young, Jr. and C.Y.'s half-sister. (Tr. at 678-80.) Elizabeth would spend every other weekend with her father, step-mother, C.Y. and her step-brother Brandon. (<u>Id.</u> at 680.) Elizabeth loved C.Y. and was very close to her. (<u>Id.</u>)

Elizabeth testified that her father had never hurt her. (<u>Id.</u>) She witnessed C.Y. interacting with her father and observed that C.Y.. loved her father and enjoyed spending time with him. (<u>Id.</u> at 681.) Elizabeth never saw her father do or say anything

out of sorts or strange to C.Y. (Tr. at 681.)

After the allegations of sexual abuse were made against her father, Elizabeth was asked to come to Tupelo to be interviewed regarding her father. (Id.) Elizabeth made the trip to Tupelo with her mother, aunt and cousins. (Id. at 681-82.) She was told that her mother would be allowed to be present when she was interviewed. (Id. at 682.) Shortly thereafter, Elizabeth and her mom were escorted to a room but upon arriving at the interview room Elizabeth's mother was not allowed to enter and remained outside. (Id. at 683.) Elizabeth became upset because she had been told that her mother could be present while she was being interviewed. (Tr. at 683.) Elizabeth cried unlocked the door and ran out of the room. (Id.)

Elizabeth testified that she had been told to lie on her daddy and tell them "he touched me when he didn't," while she was in the hallway with her mother. (Id. at 684, 691.) Elizabeth was told that if she refused to answer their questions she would not be allowed to see her daddy or her sister, C.Y., anymore. (Id. at 685.) Elizabeth returned to the interview room and answered all of their questions and told them that her daddy had never "touched" her. (Id. at 685-86.) The interviewer was "mad" that she would not tell them that her daddy touched her. (Tr. at 692.) C.Y. never told her

⁴Elizabeth Young's testimony regarding being pressured and threatened to lie about her father during an interview regarding sexual abuse was uncontradicted by the prosecution. The State never called the social worker or interviewer involved to rebut Elizabeth's troubling allegations of manipulation and coercion.

sister that her father had done anything to her. (Id. at 706.)

2. Patti Roberts

Patti Roberts was a long-time neighbor of Johnnie Young, Sr. who knew Johnnie R. Young, Jr. From about the age of six or seven years old. (Tr. at 707-08.) Ms. Roberts described Randy Young as, "A little old skinny boy with big ole puppy dog eyes, a pair of shorts, no shoes, no shirt, kind of dirty and hungry and just sad. (Id. at 708.) During summers Randy Young would spend all day at Ms. Roberts' home and during school he would come there afterwards. (Id. at 708-09.) Ms. Roberts gave Randy Young food, clothing and shoes to wear, because his parents did not provide it for him, and took him with her sons to the movies and fairs. (Id. at 709.) Ms. Roberts observed that Randy Young did not like he took a bath every night and had him wash up before eating at her house. (Id. at 710.)

Randy Young's parents never called to ask Ms. Roberts to keep him, or to check on how he was doing, or to tell him to come home, or to see if he was hungry or alive or dead. (Tr. at 711.) Ms. Roberts described randy Young as "a sad throw-away child," who was unloved, unwanted and starved for attention. (Id.)

3. Dr. Gary Mooers

Dr. Gary Mooers, received a Bachelor's Degree from Brigham Young University; a Master's Degree in Social Work from Florida State University; and a Master's Degree

in Public Health and a Doctorate Degree in Social Work from the University of Pittsburgh. (Tr. at 724.) Dr. Mooers spent 29 years on the faculty of the Social Work Department at the university of Mississippi, twenty of those years as the Chair. (Id. at 724-25.) Dr. Mooers spent four years working in child welfare and is currently employed by the University of Southern Mississippi, housed at the Forrest County DHS, to work as a trainer and mentor for workers and as a trainer for social work supervisors in the areas of child sexual abuse, long-tern foster care cases where children are exiting the system and long-term child care cases where important decisions must be made. (Id. at 725.) Dr. Mooers, has previously testified as an expert witness in chancery court, circuit court and the federal district courts. (Id. at 725-26.)

Dr. Mooers has had hands on experience with forensic interviewing from 1969 to the present. (<u>Id.</u> at 726.) Dr. Mooers has educated and trained others in forensic interviewing and has evaluated forensic interviews. (Tr. at 726-27, 736.) Dr. Mooers took a Masters level course specifically in child sexual abuse interviewing and six academic quarters in general interviewing which included interviewing children. (<u>Id.</u> at 735-36.) Further, Dr. Mooers was requested by DHS to train its workers in forensic interviewing and conducts such training approximately 10-12 times a year. (<u>Id.</u> at 736, 739-40, 752.) In addition, Dr. Mooers previously was accepted as an expert witness specifically as it pertained to the "finding words" protocol. (<u>Id.</u> at 748-49.) In those

cases he testified, Dr. Mooers assessed how the "finding words" protocol was used and opined on the conclusions drawn by the interviewer. (<u>Id.</u> at 749-50.)

Dr. Mooers reviewed the videotape of the forensic interview of C.Y. four times. (Tr. at 793.) Dr. Mooers testified that there was no mechanism or way which allowed a person to know a child claiming sexual abuse was or was not telling the truth. (<u>Id.</u> at 794.) Dr. Mooers noted that children sometimes lied about whether or not that had or had not been abused and were persuadable. (<u>Id.</u> at 795-96.)

Dr. Mooers found several problem areas with C.Y.'s statements in the forensic interview. (Id. at 796.) Dr. Mooers found that C.Y.'s responses seemed scripted due to the fact that she seemed to have an agenda during the interview and had a set series of answers she wanted to give while failing to respond with specific details or relevant responses. (Id. at 796-98, 801, 807-08.) C.Y.s hostility troubled Dr. Mooers because she appeared to have a predetermined litany of complaints which led him to question the source of her hostility. (Tr. at 799.)

4. Deborah Young

Deborah Young is the mother of Amy Berryhill and Randy Young's stepmother. (Tr. at 810.) C.Y. spent the better part of the first four to five years of her life living with her because of her parents' work schedules. (Id. at 810-11.) In fact, with the exception of every other weekend and one or two days during the week every other week, C.Y.

lived exclusively with Deborah Young and her husband until she started school. (Id.)

Deborah Young was not present when C.Y. hurt herself in the sink because she had gone to a neighbor's house. (<u>Id.</u> at 812.) She went to the hospital with her husband, her daughter and C.Y. and called to let her parents know she had been hurt. (<u>Id.</u>)

Deborah Young was also aware of C.Y.'s history of severe constipation which lasted until she was three or four years old before becoming more infrequent. (Tr. at 813.) On at least one occasion to Deborah Young's knowledge, C.Y. had to be hospitalized when she was over four years old because of the severity of the constipation and fecal impact. (<u>Id.</u> at 814-15, 833-35; Ex. D-11.)

When C.Y. was taken to Memphis to be examined by nurse Elizabeth Thomas,

Deborah Young went with her. (<u>Id.</u> at 815.) Deborah Young claimed that she informed
the social worker of C.Y.'s vaginal injury before the physical examination but did not
inform the nurse herself. (<u>Id.</u> at 816-19.) Deborah Young also failed to notify anyone of
C.Y.'s long term history of constipation.⁵ (<u>Id.</u> at 819-20.)

Deborah Young regularly bathed and clothed C.Y. but never observed any injuries to her body. (Tr. at 825-26.) In fact, in all of her life C.Y. had never been away from Deborah Young for longer than a week but had never seen any sign of injury on

⁵C.Y. informed her grandmother that she was aware that her mother would use her fingers to remove matter out of her anus when her mother was constipated. (Tr. at 825.)

C.Y. (<u>Id.</u> at 830-31.)

5. Johnnie R. Young, Jr.

Johnnie R. Young, Jr. ("Randy Young"), lived in Union County, Mississippi all of his life. (Tr. at 837.) At the time of the events relevant to this appeal he was married to Cindy Young and had two daughter, Elizabeth Young and C.Y. and a step-son Brandon Wright. (Id. at 837-38.)

Mr. Young denied that he had ever sexually assaulted his daughter, C.Y. (<u>Id.</u> at 838.) Mr. Young admitted that he had fondled his half-sister, Amy Berryhill, twenty years before. (<u>Id.</u> at 839.) Mr. Young was sent to Laurelwood, then to a shelter and ultimately to the Northeast Mississippi State Hospital before being released approximately a year after the incident with his half-sister. (<u>Id.</u> at 839-40, 847-49.) Mr. Young returned to his father's house for a few days but stayed outside in a tent before staying with his aunt one day and moving in with another family. (Tr. at 840.)

Mr. Young worked as a truck driver. (<u>Id.</u> at 841.) C.Y. spent most of her life living with his stepmother. (<u>Id.</u>) Mr. Young acknowledged that he spent time with his daughter alone but that he did not get to spend very much time alone with her because of his work. (<u>Id.</u> at 843-44.)

6. Brandon Wright

Brandon wright is the brother of Elizabeth Young and C.Y. and the son of

Cynthia Young. (Tr. at 878-79.) Randy Young is his stepfather. (Id. at 879.)

Brandon never observed Randy Young act in an inappropriate way towards his sisters, C.Y. or Elizabeth. (<u>Id.</u> at 880.) Brandon testified that Randy Young and and C.Y. interacted well together, she loved her dad and was always happy to see him when he came home. (<u>Id.</u>) Despite being close, C.Y. never told Brandon that her father had done anything to her. (<u>Id.</u> at 890.)

(Prosecution's Rebuttal Witness)

1. Tammy Pratt

Tammy Pratt testified that she had seen Johnnie R. Young, Jr. at his place of work at family picnics a few times and that she had seen C.Y. riding in the truck with him.

(Tr. at 898.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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