JOHNNY R. YOUNG

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-0629-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

.

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

Thomas testimony including clarification in light of defense claims of previous vaginal injury when C.Y. was quite young.

Q. Thinning or wearing away. What causes attenuation of a hymen?

A. There are several things that can cause attenuation of the hymen. The most prevalent reason is a repetitive motion against it wearing it away. There could also be medical infection that has worn away parts of the hymen. There could be a different diagnosis because there has been an insertion in that area for dilation that has worn it away.

Q. Have you been made aware of any medical condition or medical treatment, dilation, or anything that would cause a wearing or thinning of the hymen?

A. No.

Q. That fall on the faucet, is there anything about that injury or the nature of the injury that would cause a thinning or wearing away of the hymen at nine to eleven o'clock?

A. No. You would expect a tear or a laceration from an acute injury like that.

Q. Not a wearing?

A. That's correct.

Q. You were asked about is it accepted science and this and that about the hymen size. Do you make a notation of the hymenal size of every little girl you observe?

A. I do.

Q. Is that based on your training?

A. It is.

Q. Is that based on the research that you're aware of?

A. Yes. R. 666-667.

Contrary to Young's argument, Thomas' testimony was not about causation as a medical expert. The record reflects that Thomas was thoroughly cross examined about her examination of C. Y. and her tentative findings. R. 630-657. The record indicates that Thomas testified that her physical examination of C. Y.'s vagina and anal areas, indicated physical findings "consistent with" "blunt penetrating trauma", and penetration and/or friction to these areas of the female child's body. R. 629; 664.

Ms. Thomas also testified that she could only give testimony as to what was consistent with

her findings. This conclusion was not conclusive but tentative based upon the physical evidence and

what she learned from the alleged victim and medical records in this case.

Q. Is there any way that you could given any opinion more than consistent with? Do you know an of the facts of this case or see anything? Are you a witness to anything or eye witness to any of this?

A. Not other than the review of the medical records that I was provided.

Q. There's no way you could ever given anything more than consistent with, is there?

A. That's correct. R. 664. (Emphasis by appellee).

In Foley v. State, 914 So.2d 677, 685 (Miss. 2005), the Supreme Court found that

statements made by an alleged child victim as part of "a neutral medical evaluation" were admissible

under both M. R. E. 803(4) and 803(25). They were also not a violation of a defendant's sixth

amendment rights under Crawford v. Washington.

The Court declined to further elaborate on its definition. Id. Statements made by K. F. do not fall into any of those categories, and Foley failed to argue or show that the therapists or medical professionals who testified concerning statements made by K. F. had contacted the police or were being used by the police as a means to interrogate K.F. or investigate her claims. See, e.g. **State v. Snowden**, 385 Md. 64, 867 A.2d 314, 326 (Md.2005). K. F.'s statements were made as a part of neutral medical evaluations and thus do not meet Crawford's "testimonial" criterion. Thus, Foley's **Crawford** argument is without merit.

The appellee would submit that the record cited indicates that the trial court did not exceed

its discretion in admitting Nurse Thomas's testimony as a qualified SANE nurse. Gilley, supra.

The record also reflects that Thomas made and documented her physical findings based upon her examination of C.Y.'s body. She testified that these physical findings were consistent with trauma from penetration. It was consistent with friction from a penis, finger, or other objects. Thomas did not testified that this was a conclusive medical finding. It was limited to what she observed and the information available to her from the alleged victim and her medical records.

This issue is also lacking in merit.

÷

PROPOSITION V

THE RECORD REFLECTS TESTIMONY FROM DR. MOOERS WAS PROPERLY RECEIVED.

Young argues that the trial court erred in not allowing Dr. Mooers to testify as an expert witness about how he viewed the forensic interview conducted by Ms. Floyd. Young argues that this interfered with his defense to the charges against him. He argues that Dr. Mooers was better qualified by education and training than the prosecution's witness and should have been given free rein to testify about the forensic interview and C.Y.'s accusations. Appellant's brief page 30-31.

To the contrary, the record reflects that Dr. Mooers was allowed to testify. R. 791-808. The trial court found that he would not be allowed to critique Ms. Floyd's forensic interview which was presented to the jury through the DVD recording. This was because Dr. Mooers was not qualified by training, education and continuing monitored experience in conducting forensic interviews with children nor was he present when the forensic interview on the DVD occurred. R. 767.

However, he was allowed to testify about both the limitations of "the RATAC " forensic interview technique in general as well as some actions or statements by C. Y. he observed, along with the jury, during the interview.

The record reflects Dr. Mooers did testify about the limitations of the interview technique used as well as some statements and actions by C.Y. during the interview. This was inadequate from his point of view as a defense witness. However, on cross examination he admitted that it was the jury's responsibility to determine if C. Y. was credible in her claims of sexual abuse by her father. R. 800.

The trial court's ruling on Dr. Mooer's testimony was as follows:

Court: The other way of stating that, rather than the way you did, is to say, and this is the Court's opinion of it, Ms. Floyd works in a highly specialized area. That highly

specialized area is now in favor with the Mississippi Supreme Court and I, therefore, allow under it under the appropriate circumstances that they have determined what the appropriate circumstances are. I'm still the gate keeper. She works in a highly specialized area. Dr. Mooers does not. He's not qualified to second guess those things that are highly specialized. R. 767.

The record reflects that Dr. Mooers testified about the forensic interview before the jury and

was cross examined about his criticisms of the same. R. 791-808. Ms. Angie Young ,a forensic

interviewer with the Child Advocacy Center, had previously testified about her forensic interview

of C. Y., R. 327-373. She was thoroughly cross examined about the circumstances under which C.

Y. was interviewed, as well as the conclusions that she derived from that interview. R. 374-403.

In addition, the record reflects that Dr. Mooers admitted on cross examination that he did not

have any criticism of how Ms. Floyd conducted her interview of C.Y. R. 800.

He also admitted that while he saw some limitations in C. Y.'s statements during the

interview, it would be up to the jury to decide who was being truthful as to the charges. R. 800.

Q. Is what you're trying to tell us is that ultimately these people right here will have to be the people to decide if that little girl was telling the truth that day or not?

A. Yeah, definitely.

Q. What your opinion is, what Angie Floyd's opinion is, what mine is, what the Judge's opinion is doesn't matter?

A. That's the way the system is set up, yes.

Q. That's the way the system works anyway. But you said you didn't-as far as how Angie Floyd conducted the interview, you said you didn't have any problem with that, did you?

A. As I said, it probably wasn't a flawless interview, but that was because of the child, and I don't think anybody would have conducted a flawless interview with that child; but, no, I didn't have a criticism of how she did things. R. 800.

In Hall v. State 611 So.2d 915, 918 (Miss. 1992), the Supreme Court found that unless the

trial court abused its discretion in determining the admission of alleged expert witnesses in scientific

areas it would not reverse his ruling.

Under this Court's standard of review, the admissibility of evidence rests within the trial court's discretion. **Wade v. State**, 583 So.2d 965, 967 (Miss.1991). Unless his judicial discretion is abused, this Court will not reverse his ruling. **Lewis v. State**, 573 So.2d 719, 722 (Miss.1990). The qualifications of an expert in fields of scientific knowledge is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. His determination on this issue will not be reversed unless it clearly appears that the witness is not qualified. **Wilson v. State**, 574 So.2d 1324, 1334 (Miss.1990); **Smith v. State**, 530 So.2d 155, 162 (Miss.1988).

The appellee would submit that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Dr. $M^{\circ \circ} \mathcal{C}^{\prime \circ}$

Moore's testimony in the instant cause. The record does not reflect that this interfered with Young's

defense to the charges.

The appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION VI

THE RECORD REFLECTS THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED FOR FAILURE TO MAKE A SPECIFIC OBJECTION. THE CLOSING WAS BASED UPON TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE BEFORE THE JURY.

Mr. Young argues that during closing argument the prosecution improperly used a so called "golden rule argument." He argues this argument improperly requested the jury to put themselves in place of the victim rather than remain impartial in their deliberation on the credibility of witnesses and the determination of the facts before them based upon all the testimony and evidence presented. This type of argument allegedly prejudiced and interfered with his defense to the charges. Appellant's brief page 31-35.

The record reflects that while Young made objections during closing argument, he made

"general, non-specific objections." R. 957-959.

In Burns v. State, 729 So. 2d 203, 219 (Miss 1998), this court stated that one could not

expand upon an objection made at trail on appeal.

In Conner, this Court held that an objection on one or more specific grounds constitutes a waiver of all other grounds. Id at 1255 (citing Stringer v. State, 279 So. 2d 156, 158 (Miss. 1973). See also Brown v. State, 682 So. 2d 340, 350 (Miss 1996), It has long been the finding of this Court that "an objection at trial cannot be enlarged in a reviewing court to embrace an omission not complained of at trial. Brown, 682 at 350 (citing McGarrh v. State, 249 Miss. 247, 148 So. 2d 494, 506 (1963). This claim is procedurally barred. Objection on one or more specific grounds at trial constitutes a waiver of all other grounds for objection on appeal. Burns v. State, 728 So.2d 203 (Miss. 1998).

While Young asked for a curative instruction and a mistrial, he did so after the fact. R. 968.

The appellee would submit that the record reflects that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in

denying both. Alexander v. State, 602 So. 2d 1180, 1182 (Miss. 1992).

Additionally, the record indicates that C. Y.'s family members had been informed of

Young's improper sexual actions toward her but had chosen not to report them to anyone outside

their home. R. 435, 669, 689, 932. C. Y. stated that her father told her not to tell about his sexual assaults. It was their "secret." Her brother also told her not to report the abuse.

Q. And you never mentioned it to Brandon?

A. Unh-unh, because he always told me to keep it a secret. Don't tell anyone.

Q. And you never told it to Elizabeth?

A. No.

Q. Or your grandma or your granpa?

A. My grandma because I knew that I shouldn't be keeping it a secret anymore and the last time I told my grandma. R. 435.

In the forensic interview, C.Y. stated that she did not want to be subjected to sexual assaults by her father any more. This was why she told others about this abuse. This included her mother, her grandmother, brother and Mr. Richard Dunsford, a family friend. R. 435. None of her family prevented the abuse or reported it to law enforcement. It was a family friend, Mr. Dunsford, who reported the abuse to the authorities. R. 448.

Ms. Elizabeth Young, C.Y.'s sister, testified to being told not to talk to anyone from DHS.

Q. Had your grandmother or mother told you you better stay away from DHS and don't talk to them?

A. Yes, sir. R. 689. (Emphasis by appellee).

The forensic interview and testimony in the record indicates that C. Y. wanted the sexual abuse to stop. She was subject to being intimidated by her father while living in the same home with him. Her family members, who should have protected her, did not want anything reported to DHS.

Therefore, the prosecution's closing argument about how the alleged victim wanted someone to put a stop to the sexual abuse was solidly based upon testimony and evidence before them. It was

also a response to the defense arguing that this vulnerable child was lying and the defendant should be released since he was allegedly innocent of any sexual abuse. R. 965-966. **Booker v State**, 511 So. 2d 1327, 1332 (Miss 1987).

In **Jimpson v. State**, 532 So. 2d 985, 991 (Miss. 1989), the Court found that the prosecutions' comments about how they, the defense, could not explain eye witnesses putting Jimpson near the scene of a bank shooting was not a comment on his failure to testify. District Attorney Peters said that "they' haven't bothered to tell you how Jimpson could be arrested, out of breath within a mile of the bank where a bank teller was shot. This was when Jimpson had presented an alibi witness that supposedly suggested that Jimpson was at a trailer park at the time of the crime. As this Court stated:

There is a difference, however, between a comment on the defendant's failure to testify and a comment on the failure to put on a successful defense. Terry Road (the location of the bank) is not located in North Jackson; therefore it is proper for the District Attorney to question the defense's inability to successfully explain Jimpson's presence in the area.

In Chisolm v. State 529 So.2d 635, 640 (Miss. 1988), relied upon by Young, the Court

found that while a prosecutor referred to putting themselves in the place of the victim, nevertheless,

this was "harmless error." Contrary, to the instant cause, a specific contemporaneous objection to

adopting the victim's perspective was made in Chisolm. In addition, there was in that case, as there

is in the instant cause, overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Attorneys should not tell a jury, in effect, that the law authorizes it to depart from neutrality and to make its determination from the point of view of bias or personal interest. See also **Copiah Dairies v. Addkison**, 247 Miss. 327, 338, 153 So.2d 689 (1963); 70 A.L.R.2d 927; 53 Am. Jur. Trial § 496, p. 401; 88 C. J. S. Trial, § 191, p. 376.

[10] There is no reason on principle why this prohibition on "golden rule" arguments should not extend as well to criminal cases. See **Tuff v. State**, 509 So.2d 953 (Fla. App.1987); **Bullard v. State**, 436 So.2d 962 (Fla. App.1983); **Bertolotti v. State**,

476 So.2d 130, 133 (Fla.1985); Estes v. Commonwealth, 744 S.W.2d 421, 426 (Ky.1987); and Lycans v. Commonwealth, 562 S.W.2d 303, 306 (Ky.1978). On the other hand, the argument was sufficiently insignificant in the overall context of the case before us that we find the error harmless. See Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130, 133 (Fla.1985); James v. State, 263 So.2d 284, 286 (Fla. App.1972). (emphasis by appellee).

The appellee would submit that based upon the record cited above, this issue was waived.

It was waived for failure to make a contemporaneous objection, and when viewed in the context of

closing argument, it was also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION VII

THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATED TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE DENIAL OF POST CONVICTION MOTIONS.

Mr. Young argues that there was insufficient credible evidence in the record in support of his conviction and the trial court's denial of his motion for a new trial. Young argues there was a lack of evidence as to "when" the alleged sexual assaults occurred as was charged in the indictment. Appellant's brief page 35.

This "when" issue was not raised in Young's motion for a new trial on any new grounds. C.P.

102-106. This issue raised and rejected by the trial court was that there was insufficient evidence as to when the many sexual assaults of C.Y. occurred.

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